IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUIS ALEJANDRO MENENDEZ-CORDERO, No. 74901 Aug 16 2018 03:29 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction in Case Number CR15-1674
The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada
Honorable Connie J. Steinheimer, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER Washoe County Public Defender Nevada State Bar No. 4925 JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Deputy Public Defender Nevada State Bar No. 10 350 South Center Street, 5th Floor P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520-0027 (775) 337-4827

Attorneys for Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court filed a criminal judgment of conviction on December 19, 2017. 1JA 251-52 (Judgment). Appellant, Luis Alejandro Menendez-Cordero (Mr. Menendez-Cordero, filed a notice of appeal from that judgment on January 16, 2018. 1JA 253-54 (Notice of Appeal). This Court's jurisdiction rests on Rule 4(b) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (NRAP) and on NRS 177.015(3) (providing that a defendant may appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals because it involves jury-based convictions on category A felonies. NRAP 17(b)(2)(A). The Nevada Supreme Court should keep and hear this appeal because it presents at least two issues of first impression. The first issue concerns the propriety of utilizing an anonymous jury generally, and its use specifically in the instant case. The second issue concerns the failure to instruct a penalty jury of the effect of a sentencing enhancement.

¹ "JA" in this Opening Brief stands for the Joint Appendix, which is comprised of ten volumes. The volume number of a referenced volume precedes "JA." Referenced page numbers follow "JA." Pagination conforms to the sequential rule of NRAP 30(c)(1).

III. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. Empaneling an anonymous jury is an unusual measure that is warranted only where there is a strong reason to believe the jury needs protection or to safeguard the integrity of the justice system, so that the jury can perform its fact-finding function. Did the district court err in seating an anonymous jury in this case?
- B. The use of uncharged prior bad act evidence is disfavored in our criminal justice system. Did the district court err in admitting such evidence where its probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect?
- C. Without a proper jury instruction a jury may make a sentencing determination that is arbitrary and capricious. Did the failure to instruct the penalty jury of the effect of a sentencing enhancement makes its sentencing determination unreliable?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction.² The State charged Mr. Menendez-Cordero with two counts of murder in the first degree with the use of a deadly weapon. 1JA 1-3 (Indictment). A jury found Mr. Menendez-Cordero guilty of both counts and, on both counts, found that a deadly weapon had been used, 1JA 235, 236 (Guilt Verdicts); 9JA 1576 (Transcript of Proceedings: Trial), and set the

² This case was initially assigned to Judge Patrick Flanagan. However, Judge Connie J. Steinheimer took the case after Judge Flanagan became ill. Judge Steinheimer presided over the trial to completion, and was the sentencing judge. Judge Flanagan made pretrial rulings, two of which form issues on appeal.

penalty for both counts at life without the possibility of parole. 1JA 749, 750 (Penalty Verdicts); 10JA 1766-67 (Transcript of Proceedings: Penalty Phase).

At the subsequent sentencing hearing the district court imposed the penalties set by the jury, ordered that they be served consecutively and added a consecutive weapon enhancement of 96 to 240 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections to both counts. Finally, the district court imposed fees, assessments, and restitution attendant to the charges and proceedings. 1JA 251-52 (Judgment). Mr. Menendez-Cordero appeals.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following is general factual background. Additional facts necessary to the discussion of the issues on appeal are contained in the portions of this brief in which those issues are addressed.

In November 2010 Kristine Marie Yost (Kristine) was living at the Bainbridge Apartments in Sparks; she was 20 years old. She worked at the Peppermill in Reno. At that time her lifestyle consisted of working, hanging out, and doing drugs. Her drug of choice was methamphetamine. 4JA 545-49, 577-78, 619. On November 19, 2010,

Kristine was hanging out with her friend Sean (a co-worker) at her apartment. 4JA 526, 626. That evening Kristine and Sean drove her friends Crystal Moreno and Alex Gomez to Rail City, a local casino, and then came back to her apartment. Later they drove back to Rail City to pick up Crystal and Alex. This time Sean drove them back to the apartment, dropped them off, and left. 4JA 563-65, 626-28.

Back at her apartment with Alex and Crystal, Kristine heard from Kevin Melendez (Kevin), who had been over earlier in the day, asking to come back over. 4JA 565. He brought Moises Vasquez (Moises), Yesenia, and Terrell with him.³ As they were hanging out Crystal asked Kevin to take her to Wal-Mart to buy some beer. Kristine thought she'd go with them. The others decided to wait at the apartment. 4JA 566-67. In the apartment complex's parking lot Kristine saw Elder Rodriguez (Primo) pulling into the lot in his car. Kristine and Primo had talked earlier that day about him coming over. Kristine got out of Kevin's car and walked back to her apartment with Primo and Mr. Menendez-Cordero (Luis), who was with Primo.⁴ When Luis got out

³ Terrell Wagner (Terrell) testified that they got to Kristine's apartment sometime after midnight. 4JA 755, 764.

⁴ Luis was also known as "Apo," which is short for Apocalypto. 4JA 692.

of Primo's car he wasn't wearing a shirt; he put on a hoodie and handed Kristine a jug of water. Kristine noticed a "MS-13" tattoo on his stomach. 4JA 569-73.5

After they walked into her apartment Kristine put the jug of water on a bar counter. Everyone there greeted each other and then found a place to sit; Primo and Luis took the couch while most of the others sat around the dining room table, ready to play cards. 4JA 578, 584, 587-88; 7JA 1255-57. When Kevin and Crystal returned from Wal-Mart about twenty minutes later, 4JA 591, Kevin said hello to Primo and Luis, had a quick conversation with Primo, and then sat on a barstool next to Kristine, who was sitting at the table. 4JA 592-94. At some point while playing cards Kristine saw Luis follow Primo out of the apartment. Primo had walked out first; Kristine thought that he was just going outside to smoke a cigarette. 4JA 594-95. Primo never came back into the apartment. 4JA 597. Luis did come back in, 4JA 597, and Kristine described what happened next this way:

Kristine had met him at least five times before this evening, but called him "Apple," a misunderstanding of his nickname. <u>See</u> 4JA 557-58, 692. ⁵ Other evidence suggested that Luis's stomach tattoo was fresh, and it hurt him to cover it. <u>See</u> 4JA 733 (stating that Luis "did not want to cover [the tattoos], because it hurt him.").

We were sitting at the table and we were playing cards. And I—I look at Kevin and he stands up and he looks behind him and he says, oh, shit, what the fuck? And he's—I see fire crackers. That's what I thought they were fire crackers fly past me. And I see Kevin and Moises bump into each other and they fall and I'm in the kitchen and I see the defendant—I had my hands up and I see the defendant holding the gun and he's standing there holding the gun and I still see the smoke coming out of the gun.

4JA 596 (paragraph break omitted).

Kristine, who had moved to the kitchen to hide behind a cabinet, 4JA 596-97, saw Luis standing there saying something. But she couldn't hear him because of the ringing in her ears. She saw Luis run out of the apartment. Kristine ran to the door and closed and locked it behind him. 4JA 597-98, 634. Similarly, Terrell testified that he saw Luis—who he did not know and described him as wearing a zipped up hoodie, 4JA 766-67—go outside and then come back with a gun and start shooting. Terrell testified that Luis pointed the gun at him, but all he heard was "clicks." He also heard Luis say something in Spanish and then watched him run away. 4JA 769-70, 781. Terrell called 911. 4JA 771. By now everyone was panicking, screaming. Kristine went to Kevin and Moises who were lying on the ground or slumped against a wall. She called 911

twice. Alex ran out of the apartment and Kristine again locked the door. She called Primo and screamed "What the fuck?" 4JA 599-600, 633, 635. When she called Primo he was on his way to a 7-11 to get some beer. He couldn't understand her; she was yelling, kind of hysterical. 7JA 1258-59. He didn't know what was going on. 7JA 1265. So he started making his way back to the apartment, but the police had blocked off the roads. And the police would not let him get his car, so he left the area on foot. 7JA 1259, 1265-66. He never heard from Luis or saw him again after that night. 7JA 1260.

When the police arrived they initially secured the scene and placed Kristine and others in handcuffs, which were removed after it was determined there was no reason to detain them. 4JA 650-51, 655, 659; 6JA 1005-06, 1011-13. In the meantime, officers made sure that there were no threats inside the apartment and attended to Kevin and Moises. 4JA 652-55, 661-62; 6JA 1006-08. Both Kevin and Moises were taken to Renown Medical Center, but both died from their injuries. 4JA 682-83, 685, 687. Autopsies performed on Kevin and Moises concluded that Kevin had died as a result of multiple gunshot wounds; the manner of death was homicide, 5JA 815-24, and that Moises had died as a result

of a penetrating gunshot wound to the right cheek; the manner of death was homicide. 5JA 824-30.

Primo had been identified as a "subject" who had been present during the shooting. Sparks Detective Jason Woodard contacted him and brought him to the Sparks police station for an interview. During that interview he identified Luis as the possible shooter. 4JA 680-81, 689-92. In an attempt to locate Luis, the detective traveled to an address in Sacramento, California on December 1, 2010, and again on December 6, 2010. Although Luis was not found there, the detective did speak with an individual—identified only as SA-1290 (a confidential informant)—at that location during his second trip to Sacramento. 4JA 698-701, 703, 711-12. According to Detective Woodard, SA-1290 said that Luis had gotten some tattoo work done on his forehead after the shooting. 4JA 701-02. Based on information from the informant, the search for Luis extended into the greater Los Angeles area. 4JA 703-04.

SA-1290 testified at trial and told the jury that he had been a MS-13 member and that he had helped Luis. 4JA 728-30. Specifically, that on or about November 20, 2010, Luis called to tell him that he was going to Los Angeles and wanted to stay at the informant's house until

he got picked up. 4JA 731-32. According to SA-1290, Luis told him that he had committed a double murder and that he was going to Los Angeles to leave for El Salvador. 4JA 732. SA-1290 testified that Luis told him that he had gone to a party with Primo, that other gang members were already there, and that one of them had disrespected MS-13 by saying to him: "Fuck MS-13." SA-1290 added that Luis told him that he left the apartment and got a gun out of Primo's car, That he then came back in and shot the person who had disrespected MS-13 in the head, and shot the person next to him as well. According to SA-1290, Luis said that he wanted to kill as many people as he could but his gun jammed. Thereafter he started to run. 4JA 733-35, 750. SA-1290 testified that Luis had fresh tattoos on his forehead. 4JA 735, 737.6 He said that it was common for a member of MS-13 to get a tattoo

⁶ State witness Charles Payne testified that he was a tattoo artist and that on November 20, 2010, he was contacted by his ex-wife's sister and a person named Carlos and asked to perform some tattoo work on Luis for \$500.00. He agreed and did the work at his home shop. 7JA 1155-58. He tattooed Luis's head; specifically, he did a MS-13 tattoo (the "M" on one side of the forehead and the "S" on the other side); and the letters "CLCS" in the center across his forehead. 7JA 1160-62. In other testimony provided by an FBI agent, the jury was informed of the significance of these tattoos. For example "CLCS" stands for "Criminal Lil Cycos Salvatruchos." 8JA 1151.

"[w]hen you've done a job for them, for Mara." By "job" he meant "[b]asically kill." 4JA 736. SA-1290 testified that Luis got picked up from his house on that day, and he never saw him again. 4JA 740.

On March 18, 2011, a semi-automatic gun was found in a bush on El Rancho Drive, near the Bainbridge Apartments. 6JA 1013-15, 1018, 1040. The gun was rusted, dirty and weathered. 6JA 1015. There were bullets in the magazine and one jammed in the chamber. 6JA 1018-20. The make of the gun was a Woodsman Colt .22-caliber. 6JA 1025. Later, this gun was linked to the shooting that had occurred on November 20. 2010 at Kristine's apartment. 6JA 1028 and Id. at 1046-79; 7JA 1100-36 (testimony of Kerri Heward, Director of the Washoe County Sheriff's Office Forensic Division). Ms. Heward noted some difficulty in testfiring the gun: it "had intermittent problems firing the cartridges from the magazine into the chamber, but it fired normally." 6JA 1079; and 7JA at 1130-31 (noting that she would have to reseat the magazine after firing one or two rounds).

⁷ "MS" stands for Mara Salvatrucha. "Mara is a [Spanish] slang word which literally means gang. Salvatrucha, one word however it is composed of two separate words, in the Spanish Salva refers to Salvador. Trucha is a [slang] word that ... means alert. So the literal meaning of Mara Salvatrucha is that [it] is a gang, a Salvadorean gang that is alert." 8JA 1340 (testimony of FBI Agent Blaine Freestone).

Blaine Freestone, a special agent with the FBI, provided some historical information on the origin and nature of MS-13, which he called one of the primary gangs in Central America, more specifically in El Salvador, Guatemala and Honduras. 8JA 1332,1337. MS-13 started as a result of violent civil unrest in El Salvador in the late 1980's. Migrants who had been granted asylum in the United States found themselves preyed upon by local gangs in Los Angeles. MS-13 was formed to provide protection; it has morphed into something else. 8JA 1340-41. Additionally, Agent Freestone testified that respect is essential to a person's standing as a MS-13 gang member. And if one is disrespected, it necessitates or requires retaliation against the person who caused the disrespect. 8JA 1345.8 Agent Freestone also provided testimony concerning Luis's tattoos, and the significance of certain characters and letters. 8JA 1348, 1350-61.

Over objection, Agent Freestone testified concerning some communications that took place between Luis and persons located in El Salvador while Luis was in custody. 8JA 1362-75. The majority of one

⁸ The State did not charge a gang enhancement, but offered this testimony on the question of motive under NRS 48.045(2). <u>See</u> *Butler v. State*, 120 Nev. 879, 889, 102 P.3d 71, 78-79 (2004).

particular call was not "nefarious in any way." 8JA 1375. But, in that one conversation, Luis states that he needs a favor, "I need you guys to buy a brain"—or cellphone. 8JA 1370-71. And, according to the agent's interpretation, asks that a message be sent telling the proposed recipient not to come to the trial. 8JA 1371 ("So when you send the message, tell him not to show up. Not to show up on the day that I have to arrive there in front of the main man."—which the agent interpreted as "for this person not to show up to court in front of the Judge."). And the agent said that the phrase—"him or his boss ... could be broken ["quebrar") in an instant"—suggested that he (the recipient) or possibly his wife could be killed. 8JA 1373. There was no evidence presented however that anyone actually acted on this request for a favor, or that the intended recipient (Primo) ever learned of it. See 8JA 1376-77 (suggesting that this "message" was never actually sent).

Luis was eventually arrested and brought back to the United States. After his arrest, he was brought back to Sparks and interrogated. He made no admissions or confessions, and generally denied any involvement in the crime. 7JA 1267-87; 8JA 1300-30. Luis

did not testify at trial, and his counsel did not call any witnesses. 8JA 1409-10, 1412.

The jury found Luis guilty on both counts and found that a deadly weapon had been used in the commission of the offenses. 9JA 1576. At a subsequent penalty hearing the jury set the penalty for both offenses at life in the Nevada Department of Corrections without the possibility of parole. 10JA 1766-67.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The seating of an anonymous jury is an unusual measure that is warranted only where there is a strong reason to believe the jury needs protection or to safeguard the integrity of the justice system, so that the jury can perform its fact-finding function. Nothing in this case plainly warranted an anonymous jury.

Mr. Menendez-Cordero, who was identified as being a member of MS-13, was charged with two counts of first degree murder, with the use of a deadly weapon. The State did not charge a gang enhancement. Without first consulting with counsel Judge Flanagan decided *sua sponte* to seat an anonymous jury in this case. When he, during a pretrial hearing, told counsel of his decision to seat an anonymous he

did not state any findings in support of that decision, but indicated that he would so after hearing from counsel. But later, at the prodding of a prosecutor, Judge Flanagan provided three reasons in support of an anonymous jury: (1) MS-13 "has a pattern of violence, which could cause a juror reasonable fear of his or her own safety," (2) the defendant "is facing two lengthy prison sentences should he be convicted," and (3) "based on the defendant's tattoos that he is involved with the MS-13 gang, which has the capacity to harm jurors." These findings actually boil down to just two: (1) the defendant is facing two lengthy prison sentences, if convicted; and (2) the defendant, as evidenced by his tattoos, is a member of the MS-13 gang, which has the capacity to harm jurors. Judge Flanagan's findings—either as stated by him or as broken down into two parts—were insufficient to support the use of an anonymous jury in this case as none of them constitute a strong reason to conclude in this case that the jury needed protection (or that the factfinding function of the jury was in jeopardy).

Because the seating of an anonymous jury implicates two constitutional rights—a defendant's presumption of innocence and the defendant's ability to conduct an informed voir dire examination and to

challenge effectively the seating of individual jurors—the improper use of an anonymous jury in this case was error sufficient to warrant a new trial.

Next, at trial the district court allowed the admission of prior bad act evidence. The district court allowed the State to present evidence of a possible "in-direct" threat made by Mr. Menendez-Cordero. Specifically, the State presented evidence of two conversations held between Mr. Menendez-Cordero (while in custody) and other persons located in El Salvador where he asked them to get a message to Primo telling him that he should not come to court (and, according to an FBI agent, suggesting that some harm may occur to his wife if he did). The State argued for its admission as evidence of consciousness of guilt that showed that Mr. Menendez-Cordero was present on the night of the murders and that he was in fact the shooter. Admission of this evidence for that purpose however was not relevant because the State had already established through at least three witnesses that Mr. Menendez-Cordero had been present and was that he was the shooter. Moreover, the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by it prejudicial effect. Threat evidence coupled with gang

evidence leads to the "bad person" inference sought to be avoided by the limitations on the use of bad act evidence. Simply put, the district court erred in allowing this volatile and unnecessary evidence before the jury.

Finally, the district court erred in not instructing the penalty jury of the effect of weapon enhancements. The jury should have had this information for its use in determining the penalty for the primary offense; it should not be kept in the dark. Because the sentencing jury did not have this information to consider, at a minimum this Court must reverse and remand for a new penalty hearing where the jury is properly instructed on this point.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Empaneling an anonymous jury is an unusual measure that is warranted only where there is a strong reason to believe the jury needs protection or to safeguard the integrity of the justice system, so that the jury can perform its fact-finding function. The district court erred in seating an anonymous jury in this case.

Background

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