IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUIS ALEJANDRO MENENDEZ-CORDERO,

No. 74901

Electronically Filed Oct 18 2018 09:16 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JOHN L. ARRASCADA CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS Washoe County Public Defender Washoe County District Attorney

JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Deputy Public Defender P. O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520-0027

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

MARILEE CATE Appellate Deputy P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State generally agrees with Menendez-Cordero's recitation of the factual background concerning the night of the murders. The issues in this case turn on discreet pretrial and post-trial rulings. The State will provide additional facts as necessary in the argument section below.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Menendez-Cordero asserts that the district court abused its discretion in this case when it: (1) decided to empanel an anonymous jury, (2) admitted evidence of his consciousness of guilt, and (3) refused his proposed jury instruction during the penalty phase of the trial. Menendez-Cordero's arguments are unsupported by the record.

First, Menendez-Cordero argues that the district court abused its discretion when it empaneled an anonymous jury in this case. The parties agree that a district court's decision to empanel an anonymous jury is an issue of first impression in Nevada. The parties also agree on the guidelines that should inform this Court's review the district court's decision in this case. However, contrary to Menendez-Cordero's arguments, the record in this case contains ample support for the district court's decision to empanel an anonymous jury. An anonymous jury was necessary to guarantee a

fair trial and the district court's decision did not infringe upon Menendez-Cordero's fundamental rights.

Menendez-Cordero next argues that the district court abused its discretion when it admitted his recorded statements of a threatening nature about the State's witness Elder Rodriguez, who drove Menendez-Cordero to the party on the night of the murders. Menendez-Cordero asserts there was no evidence that the threat was actually communicated to Elder Rodriguez and the evidence was too prejudicial. Menendez-Cordero's arguments are misplaced. The district court properly evaluated the threats and admitted them during trial as evidence of Menendez-Cordero's consciousness of guilt.

Finally, Menendez-Cordero argues the district court abused its discretion when it rejected his proposed penalty phase instruction regarding the sentencing structure for the deadly weapon enhancement. Menendez-Cordero's instruction was unnecessary and confusing because the district court, not the jury, is required to impose the sentence for the deadly weapon enhancement. Further, Menendez-Cordero's proposed instruction was not a complete statement of law. The district court properly informed the jury that it would sentence Menendez-Cordero for the deadly weapon enhancement at a later date. Therefore, the district

court did not abuse its discretion when it rejected Menendez-Cordero's proposed instruction.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion When it Empaneled an Anonymous Jury

1. Factual and Procedural Background

Approximately one month before trial, on August 31, 2017, the State filed a motion to limit the disclosure of discovery and protect witnesses. Respondent's Appendix (hereinafter, "RA") at 1-18. The State filed the motion because it learned that in July and August, Menendez-Cordero was providing his court papers and discovery to known members of MS-13. *Id.* at 2-3. Menendez-Cordero was also having concerning conversations with MS-13 members. *Id.* Some of the conversations involved references to a prior murder case and a snitch. *Id.* at 3-4. Menendez-Cordero asked his associates to study the people and the photos that were in his court papers. *Id.* at 3. A particularly concerning conversation occurred on August 30, 2017. It was an I-Web visit where Menendez-Cordero discussed sending a "message" to a witness in this case in order to get him not to come to court.²

² The State submitted documentary evidence to support its motion when it was filed. The State, ultimately, moved for admission of portions of the August 30, 2017 I-Web discussion as evidence of consciousness of guilt in this case. The representations the State made in its motion were

Id. at 4-5. The State discovered that Menendez-Cordero was attempting to send a message Elder Rodriguez—the State's witness who took Menendez-Cordero to the party on the night of the murders. *Id.; see also* 7 Joint Appendix (hereinafter, "JA") at 1253 (Elder Rodriguez testified at trial that he took Menendez-Cordero to the party with him). The district court granted the State's Motion and specifically ordered, among other things,

consistent with the evidence presented to the district court during the consciousness of guilt pretrial hearing on the matter on October 2, 2017, as well as testimony at trial. The evidence revealed that during the I-Web visit, Menendez-Cordero spoke with a woman named Bertha Arias and multiple males who included know associates of MS-13. He provided the males with a phone number and asked the men to write it down. 2 JA at 268. Menendez-Cordero asked the men to buy a "brain" (a slang term for cell phone or cell phone chip) and to tell the individual with the phone number not to arrive on the day that he was going to show up in front of the "main man" (meaning judge). Id. at 267-268. Menendez-Cordero told the men to give the guy the message that if he does show up, his female boss (meaning wife, mother, or girlfriend, depending on interpretation) could be broken quickly (meaning easily killed). Id. at 268-269. Menendez-Cordero told the men that this "son of a bitch" could change the play (or change the outcome of the case). *Id.* at 269. The phone number mentioned in the call was traced to Elder Rodriguez. *Id.* at 280.

The State is contemporaneously moving to transmit the trial exhibits of the August 30, 2017 I-Web visit, as well as an August 31, 2017 jail call where Menendez-Cordero follows up on his request to send Elder Rodriguez a message. Both were admitted at trial as evidence of Menendez-Cordero's consciousness of guilt, but as discussed above, they support the district court's decision to empanel an anonymous jury as well. See Trial Exhibits 133 and 134. Both were in Spanish, but were translated to the jury by Agent Freestone. See 8 JA 1363-1367. The State is also contemporaneously moving to transmit the official transcript of the August 30, 2017 I-Web visit, which was admitted at trial. See Trial Exhibit 135.

that Menendez-Cordero could not have contact with civilian witnesses, either directly or indirectly. RA at 30-31.

On September 19, 2017, during a pretrial motions hearing, the district court raised the issue of possibly empaneling an anonymous jury. 1 JA 18, 119-120. The district court indicated that it was looking into the matter and would take the issue up at the next pretrial motions hearing. *Id.* at 120. The district court said:

While we're talking about jurors, I am contemplating calling an anonymous jury in this case. The prospective jurors will be identified by badge number only. And I'm working with the jury commissioner to sift that information out and we'll make a full record of that at the same time we're meeting on those other pretrial matters, probably the Friday before. I want to give everybody enough time to make their record.

Id. at 119-120.

Menendez-Cordero did not object or make any record with respect to the district court's comments concerning an anonymous jury on September 19, 2017. *Id.* at 120.

On September 28, 2017, the State filed an emergency motion and request for a hearing to limit Menendez-Cordero's communication to only his defense team. RA at 32-37. In the motion, the State indicated that it had discovered jail calls from Menendez-Cordero where he was attempting to contact and/or intimidate witnesses and discussing witness testimony

with MS-13 members. *Id.* at 33-34. The district court heard evidence and argument on the matter on September 29, 2017. 1 JA 140-196. The district court heard testimony about a handful of jail calls. In one call from September 26, 2017, Menendez-Cordero told the recipient that there is an active member of their side that is going to come in and testify against him. *Id.* at 150-153. Menendez-Cordero indicated he will get the recipient the guy's number. *Id.* at 151. In another call, Menendez-Cordero spoke with a local MS-13 member and discussed his court papers, made references to the witness that would testify about his tattoo, and discussed the recipient's plans to watch trial. *Id.* at 158-167. The district court ultimately granted the State's motion. *Id.* at 191-196; RA at 54-56. The district court reasoned, in part:

Previously, this court has entered an order restricting the dissemination of discovery material to the defendant based upon the telephonic intercept of conversations between the defendant and unknown individuals in El Salvador, which reference the discovery material in this case. That discovery material appears to have provided the defendant with enough information to identify at least one of the confidential informants scheduled to testify in this case.

There has been reliable information provided to the court in the course of that proceeding and this proceeding, which raises a significant concern in this court as to the safety of the witnesses and the jury and the integrity of these proceedings.

1 JA at 192-193.

On the morning of October 2, 2017, the district court held an additional pretrial motions hearing. 2 JA 255. The district court intended to address three primary matters during the hearing: exhibits, the consciousness of guilt pretrial motion, and jury pool issues. *Id.* at 257. The district court first addressed the consciousness of guilt motion and the admission of trial exhibits. *Id.* at 257-291.

The district court then addressed its concerns about the jury pool, including whether a handful of individuals had circumstances subjecting them to exclusion. *Id.* at 291-292. The district court indicated its intention to have counsel review the unredacted questionnaires over the lunch hour to determine if either party had an objection to striking certain jurors before voir dire. *Id.*

At that point, the State asked whether it would be the appropriate time to put the court's decision to empanel an anonymous jury on the record. *Id.* at 292. The district court indicated it wanted to have FBI Special Agent Blaine Freestone (hereinafter, "Agent Freestone") testify in order to make a record.³ *Id.* After hearing Agent Freestone's testimony, the

³ Agent Freestone previously testified in support of the State's Motion to admit evidence of Menendez-Cordero's involvement in MS-13 as motive for the murders at the September 19, 2017 pretrial motions hearing. 1 JA 52-95. He also testified earlier in the morning of October 2, 2017,

district court took judicial notice of the previous orders it issued relative to the restriction on the dissemination of discovery and limiting Menendez-Cordero's contact to only his defense team. Then the district court set forth its findings regarding the anonymous jury for the record. It stated:

The court takes notice of -- well, the court certainly finds the statements of the defendant himself demonstrate a history or likelihood of the obstruction of justice on the part of the defendant or others acting on his behalf.

The record reflects MS-13 has a pattern of violence, which could cause a juror reasonable fear of his or her own safety.

The court finds that the defendant is facing two lengthy prison sentences should he be convicted. The court finds based on the defendant's tattoos that he is involved with the MS-13 gang, which has the capacity to harm jurors.

Also, the court recognizes that there was a front page article in today's Reno Gazette Journal regarding this trial. Up until this point, there had been little pretrial publicity. And in order to protect the defendant's constitutional rights, I'm simply going to instruct the jury that they are to be identified by number, not because of the type of trial here, not because of anything that the defendant has done, but to protect them from harassment by the media.

The idea is to insulate the defendant to the extent I can from any adverse inference that may be drawn by the use of the jury numbers as opposed to names. That will be the order.

Id. at 298-299.

concerning the State's motion to admit evidence of Menendez-Cordero's consciousness of guilt. 2 JA at 258-281.

Menendez-Cordero raised an objection to the redacted jury questionnaires for the first time after the district court made its findings. *Id.* at 299. Then counsel and the district court engaged in a discussion regarding an opportunity to review the unredacted questionnaires, how long that process would take, and whether jury selection should begin the next day. *Id.* at 299-302. The State indicated it was ready to proceed that day, despite the fact that it was not given the names or addresses of the potential jurors, because there was enough information to have a conversation with them. Id. at 300-301. The district court recognized that its decision actually leveled the playing field because it prevented the State from conducting background checks on the jurors and gathering information that the defense did not have. *Id.* at 301. The district court indicated that it was going to have jury selection go forward that afternoon to protect the rights of both sides. *Id.* at 302.

Menendez-Cordero objected for a second time to the redacted juror questionnaires when trial was scheduled to start that same afternoon.⁴ *Id.*

⁴ All the prior proceedings were completed by Judge Flanagan. However, Judge Steinheimer stepped in for him on the afternoon of October 2, 2017, because he was ill. *See* 2 JA at 317; 3 JA at 382. Judge Flanagan returned on October 3, 2017, for jury selection, but Judge Steinheimer presided over the trial starting on October 4, 2017, through the conclusion of the trial due to his illness. 3 JA at 382, 498.

at 306. The parties spent the afternoon of October 2, 2017, addressing preliminary issues with the jurors, including excusing panel members for vacation conflicts, medical reasons, and language issues. *Id.* at 335-378.

On the morning of October 3, 2017, the court told the jury panel what to expect during jury selection and trial. The court also explained why they were being identified by number. 3 JA at 382-388. Judge Flanagan said:

Now, also this is a small community and it's not unusual for individuals to know each other, even amongst the jury pool. You may be questioning why are we using numbers instead of names. Well, some of you may have seen the newspaper yesterday. I don't know if it's in today. But as the judge here, I felt your privacy was important and I didn't want you being harassed or followed up during your time as jurors here. And so for that reason, I've selected this panel according to numbers. So you can rest assured that the newspaper reporters will leave you alone.

Id. at 387-388.

The majority of the day on October 3, 2017, was dedicated to voir dire. *Id.* at 382-496. The court did not place any limit on counsel's ability to conduct voir dire. *Id.* at 436-485. Menendez-Cordero's counsel questioned the potential jurors during the afternoon. The record suggests she ended her questioning when she was satisfied that the panel could be passed for cause. *See id.* at 485. Menendez-Cordero did not re-raise the objection to the redacted jury questionnaires at any time on October 3, 2017, nor did counsel argue that her ability to conduct voir dire was

somehow hampered by the redacted questionnaires. *Id.* at 382-495. Twelve jurors and two alternates were sworn as the jurors for the case at the end of the day on October 3, 2017. *Id.* at 492.

On the morning of October 4, 2017, Menendez-Cordero's counsel requested to have the redacted and unredacted questionnaires made part of the record and "renewed" Menendez-Cordero's objection to the anonymous jury. *Id.* at 513. However, Menendez-Cordero's counsel did not make a record regarding how the redactions allegedly impacted her ability to conduct a thorough voir dire. *See id.*

The redacted and unredacted forms were filed under seal with the district court after the trial. The redactions only pertained to specific identifying information for the jurors. For example, the parties were provided with the city and zip code the jurors lived in as well as their year of birth. The parties were not given the jurors' names, specific contact information (addresses or phone numbers), dates of birth, employers, or their spouses' names and contact information. The rest of the questionnaire was left unaltered—meaning the parties had access to a large amount of information for the jurors, including, length of time in Washoe County, education level, special degrees and training, occupation, spouse's

occupation, relation to law enforcement, prior jury service, and family demographic information.⁵

2. Standard of Review and Discussion

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